



Pre-school Room

PARENT HANDBOOK

Debra McNeil, Little Fawn Nursery Administrator

LITTLE FAWN NURSERY / TKEMLÚPS TE SECWEPEMC | 360 CHIEF ALEX THOMAS WAY, KAMLOOPS, BC, V2H 1H1 | OFFICE PHONE: 250-828-9734 | FAX: 778-644-5115 | EMAIL: DEBRA.MCNE@TTES.CA | WEBSITE: TKEMLUPS.CA

Weytkp Xwexwéyt te Kwséltkten / Dear Families,

Welcome to the Preschool Room at the Tse7í7elt re Yecwemníletens (Little Fawn Nursery). We are

excited about working together and forming a relationship with you and your child. The pre-school years

are very special with a lot of developmental changes and events specific to this age. It is exciting to see

the transformation and growth in each child as they prepare for kindergarten readiness.

Secwepemc language and culture revitalization is a high priority for the Tk'emlúps te Secwepemc, also

known as the Kamloops Indian Band. It is with great pride and teamwork that we may offer a Secwepemc

language nest program within the Little Fawn Nursery. We fully believe that a language nest if one of the

most effective means of revitalizing a language. Raising children in the Secwépemc language with a strong

sense of identity and culture promotes academic excellence and a lifetime of health. From birth, all infants

are able to make sense of any speech sounds they hear over and over. Studies have shown that raising

children with two languages ensures that children can be comfortable in two cultures, have good

interpersonal and problem-solving skills, be creative thinkers and have a strong sense of belonging in their

own community.

The handbook is a supplement to your Registration Package. The Parent Handbook answers your

questions about general policies, for example enrolment, drop-off and pick-up policies, and billing. This

Preschool Handbook is specific to your child and the practices and guidelines relating to this classroom.

Please take the time to read through this information. If you have any questions, please feel free to ask

the LFN Administrator or **preschool** Room staff at any time.

In Friendship,

Little Fawn Nursery

1

Table of Contents

FACILITY INFORMATION	4
PRE-SCHOOL ROOM STAFF	4
VISION	4
PHILOSOPHY	4
WHAT IS A SECWEPEMC LANGUAGE NEST PROGRAM?	4
WILL LEARNING ANOTHER LANGUAGE HARM OR DELAY MY CHILD?	5
ENGLISH FREE ZONE	5
CLASSROOM SETTING AND STAFFING	5
ENROLMENT POLICY	6
DEFINITIONS	6
Priority	6
PAYMENT POLICY	6
DROP OFF POLICY	7
PICK UP POLICY	7
DAILY SCHEDULES	8
DAILY SCHEDULE	8
MEAL TIMES	8
LUNCH POLICY LITTLE FAWN NURSERY	9
SLEEPING	9
BATHROOM ROUTINE	9
SHOES	9
WHAT TO BRING .	10
CLOTHING/SEASONAL ITEMS	10
SEPARATION	10

PARENT INVOLVEMENT	11
Сивву Room	11
CURRICULUM PLANNING FOR THE PRESCHOOL PROGRAM	11
EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS PLANNING	12
RESOURCES	12
REVISIONS TO THIS HANDBOOK	12

Facility Information

Licensee: Tkemlúps te Secwépemc (TteS)

Facility Name: Little Fawn Nursery

Facility Manager/LFN Administrator Debra McNeil Phone: 250-828-9734

Fax: 778-644-5115

Email: debra.mcneil@kib.ca

Pre-school Room Staff

Jackie Joseph, Language and Culture Educator/Early Childhood Educator

Vision

We have a vision of a Secwépemc speaking community that actively promotes our culture, values and traditions. It is essential that our children are given the opportunity to hear, learn, play, dance, sing, and speak the Secwépemc language.

Philosophy

The philosophy of the Little Fawn Nursery is to provide children with a safe, secure and stimulating environment. This environment motivates children to learn and develop through discovery. At the Little Fawn Nursery, we aim to:

- Provide a quality preschool and daycare program based on individual progress and development.
- Respect each child as a unique individual with equal rights and responsibilities; and
- Provide an education acknowledging that parents are the primary teacher in their children's life and learning.

What is a Secwepemc Language Nest Program?

A language nest uses the immersion method to help the children learn the language. All communication is in the Secwepemc language, not English. The idea is that learners will pick up the Secwepemc language faster if they are placed in an environment where it is used constantly for real communication in meaningful and context-rich settings.

The goal of our language nest is to create a place for the Secwépemc language away from English. The reason the children are in the nest is because they are not getting the language anywhere else. They are getting English everywhere they go – from their parents, family members, friends, television, radio, internet, games, and books. The purpose of the nest is to bring the Secwépemc language up to equal status with English.

Will learning another language harm or delay my child?

Misconceptions such as this seem to persist despite there being evidence that learning two languages positively enhances the cognitive development of children. However, some well-intentioned people, doctors and speech therapists among them, may caution parents of the dangers of "confusing" their children by using more than one language. These common misconceptions were based on the belief that learning two languages simultaneously would result in delays in the first language. However well-intentioned the advice is, language research has discovered that hearing two or more languages in childhood is not a cause of language disorder or language delay. Within a Secwepemc language nest, children are immersed in the language in a loving environment that develops not only their intellectual abilities, but also their social and emotional intelligences. And since language is strongly linked to emotion and identity, all of the children's needs are met holistically. (Adapted from Language Nest Handbook for B.C. First Nations Communities, First Peoples Cultural Council)

Learning two or more languages does not cause language disorder or delay.

English Free Zone

With respect to the goals and objective of the Secwepemc Language Nest Program at Little Fawn Nursery, we are asking for the parents and guardians to only speak English in the cubby room or the office. We have creative ways to keep English out of the classroom environment, for example writing on dry erase boards. One of the easiest ways to keep English out of the classroom is for parents and guardians to learn basic phrases. LFN can help provide language learning materials or teach parents basic phrases. We are proud to admit that your child will begin speaking and singing in the Secwepemc language within the next few weeks. Please enjoy this wonderful achievement in upcoming weeks!

Classroom Setting and Staffing

Program Overview: The **Pre-School** Room is a program for children 4 years of age. The **Preschoolers** are housed in one activity room that meets childcare regulations. **Preschoolers** will be given the opportunity to hear Secwepemc language on a regular basis, a critical time for the development of cognitive and social skills, as well as cultural and personal identity. Healthy meals and snacks are provided as we work closely with parents to suit each child's specific needs. Our **Pre-school** program has a separate space for the sleeping area to provide a comfortable quiet area to keep each child in their usual routines.

The **Preschool** Program is for children Four (4) years old and operates with a maximum of eight children to one qualified educator. As **Preschoolers** are developing an awareness of others, they are learning how to successfully interact as they develop their social skills. Educators will guide our **preschoolers** to explore their environments, learn concepts such as cooperation and community. They will also gain a sense of independence and are encouraged to participate in activity areas that promote social, emotional, physical, and cognitive development.

Staff: The **Preschool** Program staff members provide quality childcare, in a safe and secure learning environment, and have a love and dedication for this age group. All staff members are early child educators and assistants with a strong knowledge of child development. They educate based on the

belief that parents are above all primary in all child life and learning. All staff members are mentored in the Secwepemc language and regularly attend professional development training. Staff members possess current license to practice, first aid, food safe, and childcare criminal record checks.

Enrolment Policy

The nursery will only be accepting full-time enrolled children.

Definitions

a. Full-time: Monday to Friday, 8:00 AM to 3:00 PM

Priority

Priority will be for full-time enrollment is given in the following order:

- to children of TteS band members.
- to children of TteS community members.
- to children of TteS employees.
- to children graduating from one program to the next (as spaces become available); and
- all other children.

Payment Policy

The nursery payment policy, will read as follows:

- 1. Full fees, charged on a flat-rate basis, are due on the First (1st) day of each Month.
- Full fees must be "pre-paid, in advance" and without set-off or abatement and are <u>not</u> reduced for any government subsidy or any other type of financial assistance, or for any absences, including: "sick"; "missed" or "statutory holidays."
- 3. If full fees are not paid by the Fourth (4th) business day of the start of the Month, your child, or children, will not be accepted at the nursery on the Fifth (5th) business day of the Month, or any other day, until the full fees are paid. If full fees remain unpaid after the Sixth (6th) business day, the child's, or children's, space(s) is forfeited and re-enrollment is required, subject to administrative enrollment and registration requirements.
- 4. Any fees received after the First (1st) are deemed late and are subject to a \$25.00 Late Fee. The late fee must be paid together, with the full fees owing. After two (2) consecutive months of late payments, you will be required to pay full fees by "Pre-Authorized Payments (PAP)."
- 5. Any Enrollment Fee must be paid together, with the full fees owed.
- 6. Late pick-up incurs a \$15.00 Late Pick-Up Fee per 15 minutes late or any part thereof, and the late pick-up fee must be paid by cash upon pick-up of child, or children.
- 7. An NSF or returned payment is subject to a \$65.00 NSF Fee, that must be paid together, with the full fees owed. After one (1) returned payment, you will be required to pay full fees by "Cash or

INTERAC cash debit", only. An NSF cheque is considered a late payment, and is subject to paragraph (3, 4 and 10).

- 8. Full Fees and any other charges, can be paid by:
 - a. Cash or INTERAC cash debit; or
- b. electronic bank bill payment; or
- c. Pre-Authorized Payments (PAP); or
- d. cheque(s).

If paid electronically or by way of voluntary payroll deductions, your full fees are still payable as instructed in paragraph (2.) above.

Customers will pay TteS, all fees payable under this policy, at the times herein provided, without any invoice, demand or other formality, at the offices of the Ttes.

Drop Off Policy

Once a family completes the registration process and receives a confirmation of enrolment letter signed by the LFN Administrator, this signals to TteS departments that a child is approved for drop off at LFN. All children must be signed in at LFN by 9:00 a.m.

Pick Up Policy

Little Fawn Nursery is responsible for the safe release of children and all staff members will implement this policy with their parents or other authorized adults.

Procedure:

- Parent/guardians will list all adults authorized to pick up their child on the registration form.
 Parents may also list those who may not legally pick up their child if proper legal documentation is provided.
- 2. LFN staff members will not release children to any adult other than a custodial parent without prior written consent or in-person authorization from the parent. Phone calls will not be acceptable for authorization.
- 3. Children will be released only to authorized adults over the age of fourteen years old.
- 4. If the LFN staff members have questions he/she will immediately call the parent(s) before releasing the child authorized individuals may be asked to show picture I.D. before the child is released.
- 5. LFN staff members will not release children into the care of a parent or other authorized adult who shows clear signs of being seriously impaired using alcohol or other drugs. The LFN staff members will protect the child by:
 - a. Keeping the child safe until the impaired person finds and uses alternative transportation.
 - b. Keeping the child safe until referral personnel from social services arrive.
 - c. Keeping the child safe until law enforcement personnel arrive.
- 6. Any such incident of child endangerment will immediately be reported to Secwepemc Child and Family Services. The LFN reserves the right to refuse future care for a child whose parent(s) or

legal guardian(s) have attempted to pick them up in an impaired condition. In such cases, parents will receive written notice and will be required to meet with the LFN Administrator and/or TteS Education Department Manager prior to continuation or termination of care.

Daily Schedules

The daily schedule for the children is a guide. It provides a framework for planning and organizing the daily routine and play activities for the children. The daily routines may be a little different based on the age of your child. Some common changes you may notice in your child's behaviour after enrolment in any group care situation include altered sleep/wake patterns (staying awake for longer hours), or changes in appetite.

The following daily schedule is an outline of a typical day with **Preschoolers**. Keep in mind that the schedule will include children's individual needs based on their age. This is a sample that includes the different types of components to the daily schedule.

Daily Schedule

Morning Schedule		Afternoon Schedule	
8:00-8:40	Arrival; children's choice activities	12:00-12:20	Clean up, bathroom routine
8:00-8:40	Free play, Language games and activities	12:20-1:30	Rest time
8:40-9:00	Calendar, Welcome song, Prayer, transition to bathroom routine	1:30	Wake up time!
9:00-9:15		1:30-2:00	Bathroom routine,
	Morning Snack		Snack time
9:15-10:25	Language stations according to the monthly Solstice planning.	2:00-3:00	Secwepemc seasonal round programming
10:25-11:25	Outdoor time; walk, or playground fun	3:00	Preschool closes
11:25-11:30	Prepare for lunch, washing hands Bathroom routine		
11:30-12:00	Lunch: No chocolate, nuts, juice, and peanut butter		

Meal Time

There are two snack times and a lunch time every day. Snack foods include cereals, crackers, fruit, vegetables, yogurt, cheese, and milk. Please feel free to speak to your child's teacher regarding the snack menu. Children will sit at a table for snack and will drink from cups or water bottles and utensils. It

is our goal to work cooperatively with families and their child's routine; Parents will provide a lunch that does not require heating. Thermoses with hot food are allowed.

If your child has a food intolerance or allergy, please notify your child's teacher immediately so we can post this information in our activity room and Kitchen.

Lunch Policy Little Fawn Nursery

Parents are asked to provide healthy lunch and snacks for their child every day. LFN staff members are <u>not</u> required to cook your child's lunch. Do not send soup or noodles (e.g., Itch Iban and Mr. Noodles) that need to be cooked. You may, however, send soup, etc., if they are in a thermos and do not require heating. LFN will provide whole milk and lots of water throughout the day – please do not send juice as most are high in sugar content. LFN is a <u>Healthy Food Zone</u>. Here is a list of healthy alternatives:



No chocolate or nuts allowed! This includes chocolate chip cookies.

Sleeping

Due to Licensing policies, it is required that all children rest for 1 hour. Each child will have their own cot labeled with their name. They will have a sheet and a blanked on their cot. You may bring a blanket from home to use at **Preschool** at nap times.

Bathroom Routine

All children in the **preschool** room must be potty trained. They will use the toilet on their own. If a chid requires help after using the toilet, the teacher can assist. Parents will need to inform the teacher ahead of time if there are any issues regarding the bathroom routine.

Shoes

All parents must provide a pair of clean indoor shoes that your child will change into upon arrival to Little Fawn Nursery. These shoes will stay at the Nursery to prevent contaminants from outside being brought into the classroom.

What To Bring

Active and sometimes messy play is going to be a part of your child's day. It is recommended that children wear comfortable washable play clothes that are easy to move around in and OK if something gets spills on it!

LFN does not keep extra clothes on hand for your child. It is the parent's responsibility to provide all seasonal clothing and footwear.

Clothing/Seasonal Items

Children must be dressed in appropriate clothing according to the weather. Please ensure there is a change of clothes in your child's cubby, including: shirt, pants, socks, underwear etc. to be left at school. Label everything with your child's name. If clothing items are not labeled, it makes it extremely difficult to remember which item of clothing goes to which child. During warmer months children should also bring a hat, sunglasses, and sunscreen.

In colder, winter months children must be dressed to go outside as every child will be going outside. Children need to have clothing appropriate for playing on the playground (boots, snow pants, hat, waterproof mittens).

Separation

Separation can be a difficult process for both children and parents. Every child is unique, and they all respond to separations differently. Parents should be aware; however, that children take their cues from them. When a parent feels good and responds positively to dropping their child off, the child will sense this. The following is a list of things to go that can help the separation process go smoother for both you and your child. These helpful hints can be applied from the youngest of babies to the oldest of preschoolers:

- Talk to your child ahead of time as to what is going to happen, such as "Today is a school day!"
- Talk with your child's teacher daily and establish a friendly relationship. This helps when you may
 have to give your child to her/him at drop off and the more comfortable you are, the better your
 child will respond. You can help your child begin to settle by offering a toy or a book.
- Say your goodbyes to the child and then leave. Make the departure definite. Depending on your child, he/she can get mixed signals from a parent who hangs around for too long, or from a parent who goes and then turns around and comes back. On the other hand, it is never best to sneak away form your child without saying goodbye. Always tell your child goodbye and you will see him/her later.
- Children become comfortable with routine and life becomes somewhat predictable for them.

 When a child sees their parents departing positively, and then discovers that every day they do

come back, separations become easier, and a trust is built between the parent and child and makes him/her feel comfortable and good about being in school.

• This last one may be a difficult one to do for a parent. If you child begins to cry while you are leaving, please don't turn around and come back. It is a natural reaction for many parents to immediately want to go back to comfort their child when they are distressed. Of course, the teachers are sensitive to that. However, coming back to ease a crying child will not make the separation any easier when a parent really has to leave; in fact, it may be harder for your child the second time around. After you leave, feel free to phone or text your teachers to see how your child is doing. It is typical for children to regain their composure and get into their daily routine shortly after mom or dad leaves.

Sometimes children who have had easy drop-offs for the first week or two may suddenly start to become upset at their parents' departure. This is a typical reaction in a group care setting. Then usually children become accustomed to the idea of coming to school every day or every week. Providing continuity of care will also helpful, as your child will have a consistent care giver and group of friends for a long period of time. Having this provides for a very trusting and predictable environment for you child.

Parent Involvement

LFN staff members welcome each parent to talk to them at drop off and/or pick up, and share information on how your child's night sleep was like, if he/she ate, if there are medications, etc. Our goal is to have all the information necessary to best care for you child.

Cubby Room

Every child will have a cubby assigned to them. Cubbies will hold a child's outdoor clothing, bags, or personal items.

Staff welcomes each parent to talk to them at drop off ad pickup, and share information on how your child's night sleep was like, if he/she ate, fi there are medications, etc. Our goal is to have all the information necessary to best care for your child.

Curriculum Planning for the Preschool Program

During the first two years of life, children are working on acquiring a sense of trustworthiness of oneself and others to whom the child is attached. In the **preschool** years, a strong sense of autonomy has been built. This comes from being treated as an individual and being allowed opportunities for independence.

When children feel the sense of independence, power, and competence, they can step out into the world and be active learners and problem solvers. Children need a safe environment full of opportunities to explore and have fun. They need to be able to see, touch, feel, and move.

The curriculum in the **preschool** room will be based on the Seasonal Rounds. The Secwepemc Language Program model began in the Preschool Room – everything is done in the Secwepemc Language. Everything that a child may experience is a learning opportunity. Responsive care giving is the key

component to setting up a safe and secure environment. For example, self help Skills are perfect opportunities for learning language while talking to the child about what is happening or putting the words into motion. Throughout the day, teachers will take advantage of these care giving experiences that are so important in learning the Secwepemc language and turning them into positive language experiences.

Along with the individual care giving moments, teachers will also plan and organize their environments to provide experiences which enhance motor development, cognitive development – object permanence, cause and effect experiences, language, listening and responding to sounds and interactions, and expressing emotions towards others.

Planning for the **preschool** room does not necessarily involve "lessons" but rather opportunities for experiences that as individuals they can make the most out of. When teachers organize materials for the room, they consider children's individual differences along with their knowledge of child development. Planning is based on observations of the children using their new skills and their reactions to materials. As the children become more immersed in the Secwepemc language, the teachers change the classroom environment.

Emergency Preparedness Planning

Please see the LFN Emergency Plan policy.

Resources

First Peoples Cultural Council. Language Nest Handbook. Website: fpcc.ca

Infant and Toddler Parent Handbook. The Creative Child Learning Centre. Website: thecreativechild3.com

Queen's Printer. Community Care and Assisted Living Act. Child Care Licensing Regulation. September 1, 2016. Website: bclaws.ca

Tk'emlups te Secwepemc. Little Fawn Nursery Parent Handbook. April 2013.

Revisions to this handbook

There will be annual revisions to this handbook. If you have any suggestions for change, please submit your recommendations to the Little Fawn Nursery Administrator. Thank you for becoming an integral part of Little Fawn Nursery family.

In order to maintain best practices in childcare, we must also keep up with the cost-of-living increase so we will periodically increase our childcare fees. In respecting and honoring our parents and/or guardians, a month notice will be provided an increase may be implemented.